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Praise for The Train to Crystal City

    “Russell movingly focuses on human stories coming out of one camp that held both Japanese and Germans, outside Crystal City, Tex. . . . Poignant.”

    —The New York Times Book Review

    “Mind-boggling . . . The Train to Crystal City combines accounts of terrible sorrow and destruction with great perseverance. . . . Readers [will] wish these stories weren’t true.”

    —The New York Times

    “Americans—and particularly Texans—should read Jan Jarboe ­Russell’s The Train to Crystal City. . . . Ultimately, The Train to Crystal City is about identity, allegiance, and home, and the difficulty of determining the loyalties that lie in individual human hearts.”

    —The Texas Observer

    “Poignant, even shocking . . . a valuable look at a dark stain on ­America’s Second World War.”

    —Newsday

    “In this quietly moving book, Jan Jarboe Russell traces the history of one unusual camp that housed detainees from Japan, Germany, and Italy, along with their families, many of whom were American-born.”

    —The Boston Globe

    “There are obvious parallels between Crystal City and today’s Guantanamo Bay detention facility and between the anti-immigrant ­sentiment then and now, but Russell wisely resists the urge to connect the dots. Her story is harrowing enough on its own.”

    —Chicago Tribune

    “A must-read for those interested not just in history, but in human nature . . . The Train to Crystal City is compelling, thought-provoking and impossible to put down.”

    —Minneapolis Star Tribune

    “Russell does a good job of exploring little-known historical events that deserve more attention. . . . Die-hard Texans who think they know everything about the Lone Star State are likely to discover that they don’t. . . . Readers with no particular interest in World War II—or ties to Texas—may find it hard to put the book down.”

    —The Dallas Morning News

    “Engrossing . . . Russell documents in chilling details a shocking story of national betrayal.”

    —Kirkus Reviews

    “Beautifully written . . . History buffs and general readers alike will enjoy this wonderfully realized account of a little known incident in twentieth-century American history. Jan Jarboe Russell personalizes the story with sensitively written accounts of how the internment affected both the internees and the people running the camp . . . can’t recommend it too highly.”

    —The Huntington News

    “This is an informative, disturbing, and necessary reminder of the dangers produced by wartime hysteria.”

    —Booklist

    “Both scholars and general readers interested in World War II will agree, this book is a gripping story from start to finish.”

    —Library Journal

    “Russell pulls no punches describing the cost of war and the conditions internees endured. . . . A powerful piece.”

    —Publishers Weekly

    “The Train to Crystal City is a story of heartbreaking dislocation, of lives smashed and ruined, and of almost unbelievable human endurance, resilience, and determination. Jan Jarboe Russell has written a powerful book that will leave you shaking your head in disbelief.”

    —S. C. Gwynne, New York Times bestselling author of 
Rebel Yell and Empire of the Summer Moon

    “Jan Jarboe Russell has exposed a corner of American history that few knew existed, one that is at once bitter and transformative. The glory of this book is in the many human details so skillfully sketched, which add another chapter to the unending tally of war.”

    —Lawrence Wright, author of Thirteen Days in September: 
Carter, Begin, and Sadat at Camp David

    “A gripping, horrifying, and fascinating read . . . Russell’s reporting shines a bright light on the indignities suffered nearly seventy years ago. . . .The Train to Crystal City is an eye-opening and moving look at the personal and political impact of racist policies.”

    —Truthout
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This book is in memory of Maury Maverick Jr., heroic civil rights lawyer, politician, fearless newspaper columnist, and my mentor. Before he died on January 28, 2003, he would often call to ask, “What have you done for your country today?” This book is my attempt at an answer.


Enemies are people whose stories you haven’t yet heard and whose faces you haven’t yet seen.

—Irene Hasenberg Butter, Holocaust survivor, during an interview at her home in Ann Arbor, Michigan, June 13, 2013
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The camp map was drawn by former internee Werner Ulrich, with details supplied by other former internees and camp officials, as well as Ulrich’s own research from records at the National Archives and Records Administration. Used by permission of the University of Texas at San Antonio Libraries Special Collections.





Preface


Trains are a primary symbol of World War II. During the war, life and death revolved around the arrival and departure of trains. American troops boarded Pullman cars with signs on them that said HITLER HERE WE COME and ON TO TOKYO. Along the tracks, American workers, who saved rubber tires and tin for the war effort, waved their arms to the troops, saluting them with smiles. Trains led soldiers to ships and to battle. Women waited at train stations for the return of their husbands and lovers and kicked up their heels when their men disembarked. In Germany, more than 6 million Jews were shipped in cattle cars, floors strewn with straw, to concentration camps.

And then there were the trains that transported people to Crystal City, Texas. Week after week, month after month, from 1942 to 1948, trains with window shades pulled shut carried approximately six thousand civilians from all over the world across miles of flat, empty plains to the small desert town at the southern tip of Texas, only thirty miles from the Mexican border.

The trains held Japanese, German, and Italian immigrants and their American-born children, and many families from Latin America. The Crystal City Internment Camp, administered by the Immigration and Naturalization Service under the Department of Justice, was the only “family” internment camp—on either side of the Atlantic or the Pacific—that operated during the war. It opened in 1942 for the official purpose of reuniting immigrant fathers who’d been arrested and imprisoned as “dangerous enemy aliens” with their wives and children. The length of their internment was indefinite. Internees poured into Crystal City under the veil of government secrecy, dusty trainloads and buses of men, women, and children arriving tired and confused, with tags around their necks that displayed family identification numbers and symbolized that they had been torn away from the lives they had known.

The government’s official name for the facility was the Crystal City Enemy Detention Facility. Surviving internees had their own distinctive terminology, based on their culture and experience. Japanese survivors, who later erected a granite monument on the site of the camp in November 1985, called it the Crystal City Concentration Camp. On that monument, no mention is made of the Germans, Italians, and other nationalities also interned in Crystal City. The Germans, sensitive to the Nazi extermination camps in Germany, never referred to it as a concentration camp. They generally called it the Crystal City Internment Camp. Some, however, describe it more harshly, as a kidnap camp.

Sumi Utsushigawa, born in Los Angeles to Japanese immigrants, was a shy teenager when she came to Crystal City. Her first glimpse of the city was of whirls of dust moving down a deserted main street lined with dozens of one-story buildings made of adobe. Before the outbreak of World War II, Sumi lived near downtown Los Angeles, a center of business, entertainment, and international trade. In Crystal City, she found herself in the American equivalent of Siberia, as small and isolated a place as she could imagine.

A bus took Sumi and her parents inside the front gates of the 290-acre Crystal City Internment Camp. A ten-foot-high barbed-wire fence surrounded the camp. Guards with long rifles were positioned in six guard towers at the corners of the fence line. Other guards, who wore cowboy hats and chaps made of cowhide, patrolled the perimeter of the fence on horseback. At night, the searchlights from the camp could be seen across the border in Mexico.

Paul Grayber, born in Elizabeth, New Jersey, to German immigrants, was only four years old when he arrived with his mother, two brothers, and a sister in Crystal City to be reunited with their father, who was arrested shortly after Pearl Harbor. Paul’s first clear memory in life was of the camp’s barbed-wire fence. One afternoon, while on a walk with his father, Paul pointed to a small cabin beyond the fence where the officer in charge of the camp lived.

“Why is the man who lives there fenced in?” Paul asked.

“Son,” his father replied, “it’s us who are fenced in.”

The popular history of America’s internment of its own citizens during World War II has long been focused on the incarceration of 120,000 Japanese, 62 percent of them American-born, who were forcibly evacuated from the Pacific coast after the bombing of Pearl Harbor. On February 19, 1942, President Franklin D. Roosevelt signed Executive Order 9066, which permitted the secretary of war to arrest and incarcerate Japanese, Germans, and Italians who had been declared “enemy aliens.” Not only could they be arrested and held without charges or trials, but their homes and businesses could be seized without warning. The day before Roosevelt signed the order, FBI agents had arrested 264 Italians, 1,396 Germans, and 2,209 Japanese on the East and West Coasts. The hunt for perceived enemies was on.

Virtually unknown, even to this day, is that the arrests of suspected enemies extended far beyond our national borders. Over the course of the war, the US government orchestrated and financed the removal of 4,058 Germans and 2,264 Japanese and 288 Italians from thirteen Latin American countries and interned them in the United States, many in Crystal City. Carmen Higa Mochizuki was eleven years old when her father, a poor farmer in Peru who made his living selling milk from his cows, was arrested. The government seized her father’s assets. They lost everything in an instant. Her mother, father, and nine siblings were transported to the United States, under American military guard, from Callao, Peru, to New Orleans. Their passports and visas were confiscated.

At the port in New Orleans, the women and children were marched to a warehouse, forced to strip, and made to stand in line naked. “Then we were all sprayed with insecticide that stung our skin,” remembered Carmen. “Since we had no passports or proof of identity, we were arrested as illegal aliens and put on a train to Crystal City. During the train ride, my sister thought we might be killed there.”

•  •  •

I first learned of the Crystal City Internment Camp more than forty years ago when I was an undergraduate at the University of Texas at Austin, a young reporter on the student newspaper. One of my sources was Alan Taniguchi, a professor of architecture and prominent Japanese American. During a meeting, I asked Alan how he got to Texas.

“My family was in camp here,” he said.

“Church camp?”

“Not exactly.” He laughed. Taniguchi told me that his father, Isamu Taniguchi, then an old man with a weatherworn face who stood five feet two inches tall and weighed less than a hundred pounds, had been interned as a dangerous enemy alien in Crystal City, Texas.

I met Isamu, who had been an innovative farmer in the San Joaquin Delta of California at the outbreak of the war. In addition to tomatoes and other row crops, Taniguchi grew almonds and apricots on his farm. The FBI arrested him in March 1942 when he was forty-five, and in that moment of arrest he lost his farm and everything he owned.

In Crystal City, Isamu continued his work as a gardener, but grew much more reflective and philosophical. He claimed that during his time in Crystal City he came to understand that World War II represented what he called the “beast heart in mankind.” After his release from Crystal City, stricken with grief and shame, he decided to devote the rest of his life to peace. At seventy, he created a Japanese garden in Austin with his own hands. It took him over two years to build. The Taniguchi Garden, a small, green oasis near downtown Austin, still exists and is dedicated to peace.

The raw intensity of Isamu’s face stayed with me as the decades passed and America fought wars in Vietnam, Iraq, Afghanistan, and elsewhere. One day a few years ago, I was in Austin and went by the Taniguchi Garden. I remembered the story about Crystal City. I stopped by Alan’s office and discovered he had died. His son, Evan, also an architect, greeted me. Evan shared his father’s file on Crystal City. The last time I’d seen Alan, he had told me that something about Crystal City was unresolved: a mystery needed to be unraveled, a story to be told.

I opened the file and saw a list of names, written in Alan’s meticulous hand, of many children who were incarcerated in the Crystal City Internment Camp at the time his father was interned. The children were now old men and women, who lived all over the world. The next day, I started telephoning them.

Alan’s hunch had been right. Slowly, the secrets of the camp and its sorrowful inhabitants began to unfold. The experience of their internment lay embedded in their memories, driven into them like spikes into the ties that held the rails beneath the trains that had brought them to South Texas. “During the war, there was no place like Crystal City,” said Ingrid Eiserloh, who had been a teenager in Crystal City. “So many families living behind the barbed wire, many of us born in America, humiliated and betrayed by our government.”

Living now in Honolulu, Hawaii, Eiserloh agreed to talk to me after I contacted her. On February 12, 2012, I arrived at her house. She was eighty-one years old and not in good health. She greeted me in her kitchen, ran her bony fingers through her short hair, picked up a pack of cigarettes, and poured a cup of coffee. We walked outside to the back porch, surrounded by black mountains folded into deep-green cliffs. Ingrid’s breath was quick and raspy. She seemed glad that I had found her. Time was short and she had a story to tell.
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WITHOUT TRIAL




CHAPTER ONE


New Enemies

On January 8, 1942, one month and one day after the surprise Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, America’s entry into World War II, Ingrid Eiserloh’s world changed forever. At six that morning, Ingrid’s father, Mathias Eiserloh, a German-born immigrant, left the family’s Strongsville home, a square, concrete box made by his own hands, for his job in nearby Cleveland, Ohio. Then forty-six years old, Mathias was fair-haired with gray-blue eyes. Five feet eight inches tall, stocky, he had the ruddy skin of a man well accustomed to hard labor. A structural engineer, Mathias worked for the Pittsburgh Plate Glass Company for $60 a week. He was in charge of constructing lime plants for the chemical division of Pittsburgh Plate, a company that made glass. His large hands carried a scent of sour chemicals that Ingrid did not find unpleasant, as the smell meant her father was with her.

Ingrid had been born on May 8, 1930, in Cleveland, Ohio. Her parents, Mathias and Johanna, had immigrated to America from Germany seven years before. In the midst of the Depression, they had purchased in Strongsville a heavily wooded, five-acre lot, which sloped down to a creek. There Mathias built a tent on a wooden platform, and Johanna, a slim, green-eyed beauty with chestnut hair and fair skin, raised chickens. Johanna took a lot of pride in her chickens. They yielded eggs at a rate that astonished her and added to the family’s meager income. Over the years, German-born friends and relatives who lived nearby helped Mathias and Johanna mix the concrete that was used to add on to their large, sturdy house. They built their home one room at a time. They had no indoor plumbing or electricity for years.

Ingrid lived her early life like a woodland nymph, roaming the forest and collecting animals. On her third birthday, her father gave her a raccoon. On her fourth, she was given a German shepherd puppy which she named Tire Biter, because biting tires came so naturally to him. Other dogs followed: Senta, another German shepherd, and a collie mix named Pal, with long golden hair.

As a child, Ingrid had long hair, red as a penny, which trailed down her back, and a gift. Her young soprano voice, while still immature, had the potential to rival the opera stars she listened to on the family’s Victrola phonograph. She babied her voice and knew better than to scream. Her voice teacher, a neighbor who lived down the road, regularly told her to protect her voice. The child had a rare four-octave range and an unusually disciplined disposition. If Ingrid had to cough, she coughed gently to avoid strain. In smoky environments, Ingrid breathed through her nose, not her mouth, to protect her throat. Her middle name, chosen at birth by her adoring father, was Goldie. That was the name her teacher had given to her voice: Goldie, the teacher called it, a treasure to be prized.

Even in tiny Strongsville, the unbearable news of Japan’s crippling strike at Pearl Harbor (3,581 casualties, 188 planes destroyed on the ground, 8 battleships sunk or run aground) rolled off newspaper drums and hummed across radio signals. On the morning of December 8, 1941, the headline of the Cleveland Plain Dealer was: “Japs War on U.S., Britain; Bomb Hawaii, Philippines; Congress to Hear F.D.R.” The newspaper printed instructions for responding to blackouts. Air-raid sirens shrieked fifteen miles away in downtown Cleveland. The Plain Dealer printed instructions for responding to blackouts. Terms such as spies, saboteurs, and Fifth Column subversives were alive on editorial pages. Suddenly in America there arose an entirely new lexicon—krauts, Nazis, yellow devils, and Japanazis—all new words deployed to categorize enemies in the contest between the forces of good and evil.

German immigrants to the United States, such as Ingrid’s parents, had long been subjects of suspicion. In 1936, President Franklin D. Roosevelt secretly issued an order to J. Edgar Hoover, director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, to investigate not only suspected members of the Nazi movement, but anyone who might pose a security risk in the event of war. Hoover had earlier instituted a sweeping surveillance program that proved much more far-reaching than his commander in chief had in mind. In just four years, from 1932 to 1936, the FBI swelled from three hundred to six hundred agents. Hoover’s coast-to-coast team wrote daily reports of real and imagined subversive activities, wiretapped suspects, and developed an extensive file of secret dossiers, built on the word of anonymous informants.

Within a few hours after the first Japanese bombs were dropped on Pearl Harbor, FBI agents, working from a list of thousands of names already compiled into its secret Custodial Detention Index, arrested an estimated 2,000 Japanese and German immigrants on the West and East Coasts. Fourteen days later, the FBI held under arrest 1,430 Japanese, 215 Italians, and 1,153 Germans in the continental United States and Hawaii. All of this news inflated the public’s fear of immigrants. The pursuit of enemies was on—even in such places as rural Ohio.

In Strongsville, half of Ingrid’s neighbors had either been born in Germany, like her parents, or were first-generation, born in America, like Ingrid and her two younger siblings. With the news of arrests of Germans, a worried hush fell over the neighborhood as every family of German descent came under suspicion. Mathias and his German friends stopped meeting at the neighborhood beer hall. They stopped speaking German in public. Agents came to town to interview their non-German neighbors. As had happened during World War I, anti-German sentiment was everywhere. Sauerkraut became “liberty cabbage” and hamburgers were renamed “Salisbury steak.” In nearby Cleveland, the city orchestra stopped performing the works of Beethoven.

Two days after the attack on Pearl Harbor, Ingrid rode the bus to school. She was a small girl, not even five feet tall, and scrawny as a shadow. Fueled by the anti-German influence of the day, four boys held her down on the bus, pulled her hair, and jeered, “Hotsy-totsy Nazi!” When the driver finally called off the boys, Ingrid picked herself up. Flushed and angry, she willed herself not to show fear. She had her father’s pride.

That year, 1941, Christmas came and went. Her mother sent no Weihnachtskarten—Christmas cards—and the house seemed silent and sullen. As an escape Ingrid went outside into the woods and sang arias to the trees, as if the high, crystal notes could chase away the oppressive gloom. When confined to the house, she felt claustrophobic and hummed softly to console herself.

Day by day, Ingrid sensed her father’s growing anxiety. When he came home from work, usually after dark, he threw himself into a kitchen chair and grumbled about the coworkers he thought might be his enemies. “Perhaps the FBI was interviewing them?” he wondered aloud. “Who knows what they might say?”

During family dinners he called them anonymous accusers. “What’s fair about that?”

Obsessed by fear and worry, he talked too fast and was incapable of staying on a single subject for more than a few minutes. Before Pearl Harbor, Mathias smoked two packs of cigarettes a day. Now he was never without a cigarette. Ingrid’s mother, Johanna, complained that Mathias was up to four packs a day. When, wondered Ingrid, would her father next draw a clean, easy breath? And when would she have to stop holding her breath in his presence to protect her voice?

January 8, 1942, was a Thursday and a cold winter’s day. Ice had formed on the surface of the creek behind the Eiserloh house. Ingrid and her six-year-old brother, Lothar, were away at school. Their baby sister, Ensi, only one year old, was quiet in the crib.

Two FBI agents pulled up in large black cars and parked in front of the house. They walked to the front door and knocked. Johanna opened the door, Mathias by her side.

The agents walked in and presented their identification. They were dressed in dark suits and hats, like characters in a movie. Both carried guns. They asked for permission to make a search of the premises. Mathias said yes. He was eager to comply but the agents didn’t need his permission. They had an authorized search warrant, signed by the attorney general of the United States, Francis Biddle.

Mathias fumbled through his pocket and finally produced from his wallet his alien registration card, which he carried with him everywhere. He pointed to the number on the card—4772829—in a desperate attempt to prove his legitimacy. Though born in Germany, he explained to the agents that he was a legal resident of the United States. His papers were in order. Johanna produced hers as well, along with both of their passports. Johanna explained that all three of her children were American-born. Didn’t that count for anything?

Over the next few hours, the agents moved from room to room, looking for dynamite, shortwave radios, cameras, and any other suspicious items, which they did not find. They confiscated ordinary letters and photographs from relatives in Germany. Paintings of German landscapes were taken from the walls. Other items seized that night were a black leather book with names and addresses of other German legal aliens who lived near them in Strongsville; twelve hardcover books in German that Mathias had recently purchased during a book sale at the German consulate in Cleveland to raise money for winter relief; and a list of shortwave German radio programs from the month of January 1941.

The agents opened drawers and inspected closets. They examined bank records from the Cleveland Trust Co. and noted the small amount of money in Eisleroh’s account, a mere $700. Among the postcards they took was one Ingrid had written to her father during a recent trip to Chicago to visit relatives. The card was written in English, Ingrid’s first language, but she also knew German. “I forgot my promise to write this in Deutsche,” she wrote, each letter neatly formed, “but I’m tired of writing now and won’t start all over.”

Finally the agents snapped handcuffs on Mathias’s wrists and placed him in what they called “custodial detention,” which meant that he could be held in prison indefinitely. The word arrest was not used. No one read Mathias Eiserloh his rights because as a legal resident alien from Germany, an ally of Japan’s and Italy’s in the war against the United States, Eislerloh had no rights under US laws. He was not allowed a lawyer. No charges were filed, and he would never be convicted of any crime. Yet from that moment on, Eiserloh was officially branded a “dangerous enemy alien.”

The agents instructed Johanna to pack a small bag for her husband. Eager to comply, she gathered a toothbrush, a shirt, a pair of pants, and pajamas and placed the items a small bag. “He won’t be gone long,” the agents told Johanna. This was the standard line designed to soothe anxious wives and used by FBI agents all over the country during arrests of Germans, Japanese, and Italians.

When Ingrid returned home from school, she found Ensi safe in her crib but both of her parents vanished. She walked outside to the garage and saw her uncle, Mathias’s brother-in-law, spread-limbed on the floor. He was drunk, and Ingrid shook him by the shoulders to wake him. Once on his feet, her uncle told Ingrid that FBI agents had arrested her father. He described how humiliated Mathias looked in handcuffs, eyes downcast as he slipped into the backseat of the black car. Johanna had taken the family car and driven to the jail in Cleveland to find out how long Mathias would be gone.

Ingrid left the garage, collapsed on the cold ground, and stared into the sky. Her father had vanished. She filled her lungs, and then out came an unwilled, painful roar to the sky. The high wail of her voice was so raw it made the hair on the back of Ingrid’s neck rise. Her legs came up to her chest and she rolled back and forth like a wounded animal. Then there was silence.

Like the moment captured by the artist Edvard Munch in his iconic painting The Scream almost fifty years before, Ingrid’s shriek was a life-changing moment. Munch’s painting expressed a moment from his walk in 1892 in which the sky turned bloodred and the expressionist artist sensed “an infinite scream passing through nature.” For many years after her father was snatched, Ingrid felt a similar massive disorder in her environment and in the depths of herself. The particulars of her life at home—the chicken coop, the woodburning stove, the dogs, the daily bus ride to school—all seemed blurred, no longer certain. That day, lying in the woods, Ingrid’s shriek left her silent and spent. “My God,” she thought to herself. “What will happen to us?”

After that day, Ingrid no longer sang to the trees or hummed during her household chores. Life as she had known it was finished. By the time that she next saw her father—two long years later in what seemed the other side of the world in Crystal City, Texas—Ingrid’s golden voice, along with a great many other things, had been lost.

•  •  •

On the morning of December 7, 1941, Sumi Utsushigawa, a thirteen-year-old American girl, rested her elbows on the windowsill of her second-story apartment on East First Street in Little Tokyo, the commercial and cultural enclave for Japanese in Los Angeles. In the neighborhood, filled with Shinto shrines, judo and kendo schools, and many Japanese restaurants, the culture of Japan was everywhere. The weather was in the high seventies and sunny, and the light streamed through the windows into the apartment. It was the kind of shiny California winter day, set among green hedges and eucalyptus trees, that seems improbable anywhere else.

Below Sumi’s apartment window was a traffic jam. Cars filled with angry white American men lined the street. Horns honked. Radios blared. Voices shouted. The surprise attack on Pearl Harbor unleashed panic and alarm at the possibility of additional attacks on American soil. After the worst naval disaster in American history, the Japanese might strike anywhere next. Fear of the “yellow peril,” racism toward anyone of Japanese ancestry, swept the country. The white men who crowded into Little Tokyo that day carried guns, ammunition, and baseball bats. They were on patrol to see if any of the Japanese in Little Tokyo had the temerity to celebrate their countrymen’s attack on Pearl Harbor. A few of these men carried posters with an enraged message: JAP HUNTING LICENSE, GOOD FOR DURATION OF HUNTING SEASON, OPEN SEASON NOW. NO LIMIT.

Crossing First Street, a Japanese businessman hurried toward Sumi’s building. He wore a dark suit, white shirt, and a broad-brimmed hat and carried a Christmas package tucked under one arm. Two small children walked by his side, each clutching one of his hands. The man’s gaze was lowered and his children’s faces were blank.

Sumi’s mother, Nobu, shouted at Sumi to stay away from the window and to stay indoors. “It’s very dangerous,” her mother told her in Japanese. Her mother need not have worried; Sumi had no desire to leave the apartment. The sight below had the dark, unreal quality of a Martian invasion, something impossible to believe.

Meanwhile, Nobu and Sumi’s father, Tom Utsushigawa, a photographer who owned the apartment building at 244½ East First Street, moved quickly through the two-story building. They went door-to-door—to the beautiful Japanese dancer on the first floor, next door to the somber Japanese lawyer. They pounded on doors and in feverish Japanese shouted to tenants to remove portraits of the Japanese emperor and the royal family from the walls of their apartments. Inside, the residents were just learning the news from Hawaii. “Quickly,” Tom warned. “Protect yourselves.” Suddenly, being Japanese in America was dangerous.

None of it made any sense to Sumi. She found herself on the other side of an invisible line that she had not drawn. While her parents were issei, immigrants born in Japan, Sumi was a nisei, born in America. In every way, she fit the stereotype of the nisei, the second-generation Japanese who worked hard to become “100 percent American.” Unlike her mother, Nobu, who wore her long sheet of black hair in a chignon at the back of her neck and took small, delicate steps through the apartment, Sumi wore her hair in bedraggled pigtails and had the gait of an awkward pony. She talked in California slang: “What you guys this and what you guys that?”

She had been born on August 14, 1928, in Los Angeles. That was the year Walt Disney debuted Mickey Mouse, the madcap cartoon character that became Sumi’s childhood hero. Her teenager’s closet was filled with Mickey Mouse T-shirts, caps, and sweaters. Her friends gave her Mickey Mouse pins for birthday presents. She said the Pledge of Allegiance at Central Junior High School, located only six blocks from her apartment. She celebrated the Fourth of July. A young American teenager, she had, until this day at least, been naturally optimistic. Now Sumi tried to make sense of the uncomfortable reality that her own country—America—was at war with the homeland of her parents.

Within two hours of the bombing of Pearl Harbor, FBI agents had swarmed through the narrow streets of Little Tokyo and placed Japanese leaders in handcuffs, leading them away from their friends and families. A physician who lived in Sumi’s building was among the first arrested. His wife, known as Battleship Mama, had entertained members of the Japanese navy in their tidy apartment, decorated with furniture from Japan. When young Japanese seamen, far from home, visited Los Angeles, she invited them to her home and performed the tea service, stirring green tea into exquisite small cups. These events for sailors were an innocent act by a traditional Japanese woman well schooled in hospitality. But what once seemed a courteous, sympathetic tie to her homeland was now perceived as subversive, reason enough for her husband’s arrest.

Over the next few days, the Japanese bank branches in Little Tokyo closed. Suddenly, Sumi’s parents were penniless because the US Treasury had frozen all bank accounts of anyone born in Japan. The vegetable markets along Central Avenue were shut down. Even Fusetsu-do, a Japanese sweetshop, where Sumi and her friends bought fortune cookies, was padlocked. Rumors flew through the streets. People were picked up by the FBI for having feudal dolls or playing Japanese music. Families buried ancient Japanese swords, jade jewelry, and other family heirlooms on the banks of the Los Angles River.

The day after the attack, the Los Angeles Times declared California “a zone of danger” and said it was the duty of alert citizens “to cooperate with the military authorities against spies, saboteurs and 5th columnists.” The term 5th columnist, which originated during the Spanish Civil War, was used to describe domestic disloyalty, and applied to anyone suspected of sympathizing with enemies. By the early 1940s, it was shorthand for sedition. The Rafu Shimpo, a Los Angeles Japanese newspaper founded in 1903, closed that day; however, on the next day, the newspaper resumed publication, publishing two pages in English only. The inside pages, usually in Japanese, were now blank. The government officially censored news printed in the Japanese language. In an editorial in English, the newspaper called upon Japanese Americans to fully support the war effort. “The treacherous infamy of Japan’s attack upon the United States has united the minds of all Americans, regardless of race, color or creed,” wrote the editors. “Fellow Americans, give us a chance to do our share to make this world a better place to live in!”

The next day Sumi was frightened as she walked to Central Junior High School. She worried that the angry white men might return to her neighborhood and take out their rage against her and her friends.

Her school was a melting pot of blacks, Caucasians, Japanese, Chinese, the children of immigrants from all over the world. Sumi’s best friends were whites, blacks, and other Asians. She had never felt uncomfortable at Central Junior High School. Many students had parents who were from some place other than America.

On this day, inside the halls of the school, the white girls shot her lethal looks and turned their backs. Sumi willed herself to take it in stride. After all, she was an American citizen, born in Los Angeles. On the walk home, a group of Filipino boys spit at her shoes, wrestled her to the ground, and pinched her ears. “Dirty Jap,” they said. On the same day as Pearl Harbor, Japanese forces had also attacked Hong Kong, Wake Island, Guam, Malaya, and the Philippines. In retaliation, the Filipino boys struck back at Sumi, who covered her face and picked herself up from the ground. Her first thought was “Why are they calling me a Jap?” Then it dawned on her: in their eyes—and in the eyes of other Americans—she was one.

Japan was the country of her parents, a series of tiny islands, far from the grid of Los Angeles’s crowded streets and the sparkling coastline of Southern California. Sumi understood her parents were torn between their mother country, Japan, and the country they had chosen as their own. They were born in Japan, but by law were not allowed to become US citizens. In 1924, concerned about the competitive threat of Japanese workers in the California agricultural industry, the United States passed the Asian Exclusion Act, making it illegal for Japanese immigrants to be citizens.

Sumi’s father’s first name was Tokiji. His memories of Japan weren’t happy. He was born on April 25, 1877, in Miyagi-ken, Japan, to a farmer. His mother abandoned the family when he was only three years old. His father, unable to bear the sound of his son’s cries for his mother, soon left him on the doorstep of a Buddhist temple. The punitive monks fed him scraps and beat him with sticks when he disobeyed. When Tokiji was sixteen, he set his sights on a better future and came to the United States. He brought only what he could carry, a knapsack with a change of clothes.

His first job was as a janitor for the famed Belasco Theater, a historic twelve-hundred-seat playhouse with a huge gilded dome at 337 South Main. He worked for Edward Belasco, the manager of the theater, who gave Tokiji a nickname that was easier for Belasco to pronounce: Tom. Belasco considered Tom a hard worker who was much smarter than the usual janitor, someone who might have other uses. One day Belasco gave Tom a box camera. Soon, Tom mastered the art of taking and developing photos and Belasco put him to work as the theater’s publicity photographer. In those days, the Belasco was popular among Hollywood actors, and many of the plays and musicals performed on its stage later became movies. Tom photographed Lionel Barrymore, Joan Bennett, Tallulah Bankhead, and other famous actors of the day. Some of the photos appeared in the Los Angeles Times.

By the early 1900s, Tom was well established in Los Angeles and wrote to his father to help him find a wife. His father made the necessary arrangements with Nobu’s father, as was the custom in Japan. After a series of letters back and forth with his father, Tom went back to Japan, met Nobu for the first time, and was married. He returned to Los Angeles alone to prepare for his wife’s arrival. In a few months, he sent money back to bring Nobu to America. She arrived at Terminal Island, an isolated beach located across from San Pedro, a suburb south of Los Angeles that served as the immigration point for first-generation Japanese in California.

In Nobu’s first glimpse of America, women were tanning themselves on the beach to the sound of the surf. Nobu, whose skin was pale white, wanted to fit in, so she placed a white towel on the sand and warmed herself with the rays of the sun.

In a few hours, Tom arrived on the beach with a bouquet of flowers and a box of candy. He’d expected Nobu to have beautiful white skin, so highly prized among Japanese men. Instead, her face and arms were bright red. Disappointed and angry, Tom threw the flowers and the candy into the sea. Nobu picked herself up off the beach and followed Tom. Thus began her marriage.

Tom also expected his wife to be subservient, but Nobu was independent-minded and found ways to successfully navigate her new world. Once settled in Little Tokyo among the safety of other Japanese immigrants, Tom, already successful as a photographer for Belasco, bought the building. But it was Nobu who swept the floors, arranged for repairs, collected rent, and resolved disputes among tenants. She kept the books. When Tom decided to open a photography studio of his own in their apartment, Nobu recruited clients and made appointments. During photo shoots of families, Nobu shyly dangled puppets and other toys in front of children to make them smile.

Although Little Tokyo had seven other Japanese photographers, Tom was the pioneer and the most in demand. He was short—only five feet three inches tall—but he was strong and carried himself with the demeanor of a dandy. His suits were handmade specifically for him by the tailors in Little Tokyo, who used the finest wool for suits and Japanese silks for shirts. Nobu packed away her Japanese robes and soon began to wear American-style A-line skirts and dresses with sleek lines and square shoulders. On a shelf in her closet was a row of hats with broad brims and sturdy shoes with square heels. Their apartment was filled with fine antique porcelain objects, Oriental rugs from Japan, and expensive furniture. They owned a 1930 black Hupmobile, a flashy, four-cylinder roadster that sold for about $80 and was advertised as “the best car in America for the smallest amount of money.”

Before Pearl Harbor, the only shadow over the Utsushigawa family was that Tom wanted a son, but Nobu had produced three daughters. Sumi was the last of the three, ten years younger than her oldest sister and eight years younger than her second sister. A proud Japanese man who considered himself the emperor of his own house, Tom was angry that he had no heir, no “number one son,” to take over his business. He was occasionally dismissive of his daughters and did his best to ignore them by staying busy with his photography. On the day war was declared, Sumi’s two older sisters were on a trip to Japan, visiting grandparents. Sumi was the only girl at home. As a young child, Sumi understood that when her father looked at her, all he could see was his desperate wish for an heir. On the other hand, her mother treated her as if she were an only child, lavishing affection. But in the eyes of Tom and her two sisters, Sumi was too American in her manners and demeanor, not submissive enough—or, in a word, spoiled.

In the three months after Pearl Harbor, many Japanese men from Little Tokyo were arrested. Still, no one came for Sumi’s father. Mistakenly, her father believed he would avoid arrest.

“I haven’t done anything wrong,” he told Sumi, speaking in Japanese. “This is America. They don’t put innocent people in jail here. Don’t worry.”

Nonetheless, Sumi began to listen for the sound of shoes on the steps to the family’s apartment. The knock on the door finally came on March 13, 1942—Friday the thirteenth, an unlucky day in America and perhaps an omen. Sumi was in school, going through the motions of her seventh-grade classes. Little did she know that it would be her last day at Central Junior High School.

At the end of the day, Sumi shuffled up the iron steps of the apartment building. On the second floor, she noticed that the front door was open. She paused. Her mother was seated at the dining-room table with her head in her hands. When Nobu looked up, she had a frozen smile on her face. Nobu was almost always cheerful. She laughed easily and never complained. Even at thirteen, Sumi could see through her mother’s mask—she was terrified and disoriented.

Sumi walked through the plundered apartment. Drawers had been dumped onto the living-room floor. Chairs were toppled. Piles of photos were everywhere. Her father’s good clothes were strewn in the bedroom; the contents of the kitchen cupboards were spilled on the counter.

“Mama,” said Sumi. “Was Papa arrested?”

“Yes,” said Nobu. “Five FBI men came. They took Papa away.”

Nobu spoke no more. Eventually, Sumi learned that her father had walked to the vegetable market to buy some produce. When he came home, the five agents were waiting and arrested him immediately. As was the case in most arrests of enemy aliens, there were no charges, no reason given for his arrest except that Nobu had donated $200 to a Japanese school, Dai Ichi Gakuen, in Little Tokyo. After his arrest, Tom was given an internment serial number: 25-4-3-610.

On the street, notices announcing forced evacuation were stapled to telephone poles and on the backs of bus-stop benches. Nobu read only Japanese. Sumi studied the tiny black-and-white English print on the notices and took charge of preparing to leave. Mother and daughter worked side by side silently, packing kitchen goods, clothes, and family photographs. The frozen smile never left Nobu’s face. They sold some of the furniture to junk dealers and put most of the rest of their belongings into one room before hammering the door shut. They packed one suitcase each. All the while they waited for word of where they would be relocated and word from Tom.

Four weeks after his arrest, Sumi learned her father was in a detention station in Tujunga, a thirty-mile drive north from Little Tokyo. Though they still had the Hupmobile, neither Sumi nor her mother knew how to drive; Tom had done all the driving in the family. A friend volunteered to take them to Tujunga. When they arrived at the detention center, operated by the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS), Sumi saw a prison surrounded by barbed wire. Outside the center was a long line of women and children waiting to visit their incarcerated husbands and fathers. Sumi and Nobu took their place in line and waited.

Finally, after more than an hour, it was their turn. A guard with a gun on his hip and a rifle with a bayonet explained to Sumi that her parents would have to stand on opposite sides of the fence—five feet apart—and that they could speak only English to each other. Though Nobu knew a few words in English and Tom knew a few more, they spoke to each other only in Japanese. The rule would be a problem.

“But they speak Japanese,” Sumi said.

“English only!” replied the guard.

Her mother and father faced each other, one on one side of the fence and one on the other. At first, they stared into each other’s eyes, both of them afraid of making further trouble for themselves.

Finally Tom said, “Mama okay?”

Her mother nodded. “Papa okay?” she asked weakly.

That was the only English they could manage. For ten minutes they faced each other in silence. In desperation, Nobu asked Tom a question in Japanese about where he might be sent next.

The guard quickly stepped between them. “English only!” He pointed the bayonet at Nobu’s throat.

“Take that gun away from my mother’s face,” Sumi said. The sight of the guard with his fixed bayonet and the look of helplessness and humiliation on the faces of her parents filled her with rage. Her favorite class in junior high school had been civics. She’d been taught that every American had a right to freedom and justice, and whatever happened, Sumi vowed to claim hers.

“I told them they could only speak English,” replied the guard, but he looked away from the fierce gaze of a young teenager and slowly lowered his weapon to the ground. In that moment, Sumi became not only the interpreter for her parents but their protector.

“Let’s go back home, Mama,” said Sumi. “Leave everything to me.”

That was the last day Sumi’s father was referred to as Tom. In government files he was listed as Tokiji, and from then on he answered only to his Japanese name.



CHAPTER TWO


Eleanor vs. Franklin

Neither Ingrid nor Sumi realized it, but they had an ally in Eleanor Roosevelt. On Monday, December 8, the day after Pearl Harbor was attacked, Eleanor left the White House for an overnight trip to Los Angeles and San Francisco. She took New York’s mayor, Fiorello La Guardia, with her. As part of his declaration of a national emergency, FDR named La Guardia director of the Office of Civilian Defense. The goal of Eleanor and La Guardia that day was to encourage the Army, the Navy, and civilians on the West Coast. This mission, while similar to her past travels across the United States, signaled a shift in Eleanor’s role as first lady.

The country had 950,000 people enrolled as air-raid wardens, fire fighters, and medical technicians. Now that America was involved in history’s greatest armed conflict, the powerful first lady’s job was to support her husband in readying for war. However, she also wanted to protect the rights of immigrants. La Guardia, a charismatic Italian American, was an important ally. As La Guardia snarled to Eleanor before the trip began, “Hell, this isn’t a pinochle party we’re having. It’s war.”

Once they were airborne, the pilot sent word back to Eleanor that thirty Japanese airplanes were bombing San Francisco. La Guardia was in the rear of the airplane, taking a nap. When Eleanor woke him with the news, the response of the feisty mayor was immediate: “If the report is true, we will go directly to San Francisco.” It lifted her spirits that La Guardia gave no thought to retreating to Washington. The rumors, however, were false, an indication of the country’s sudden jitteriness. Eleanor and La Guardia went as planned directly to Los Angeles.

On the ground, they met with a group of press and public officials in downtown Los Angeles, not far from Sumi’s apartment in Little Tokyo. Standing six feet tall, with grayish-brown hair and cobalt-blue eyes, Eleanor spoke to the work at hand, her imposing appearance lending weight to her words: “I am not here to give you any message. I am here to get down to work. I came here to find out from you what are the most helpful things we in Washington can do to help you. Tell me what you found lacking and what you want.” The statement summed up her approach to her job as first lady: duty first.

After Los Angeles, Eleanor traveled up the West Coast to Tacoma, Washington, where she had photographs taken with a group of American-born Japanese students—teenagers with foreign-born parents like Sumi and Ingrid. The students in Tacoma told the first lady about the FBI’s arrest of key Japanese leaders hours after the attack on Pearl Harbor. They described the government confiscation of cameras and radios, the establishment of 9:00 p.m. curfews for anyone of Japanese ancestry, and the closing of Japanese-owned businesses. The students were bewildered and frightened. In a statement given after the photograph was taken, Eleanor issued a warning that reflected her deeply held commitment to civil rights: “Let’s be honest. There is a chance now for great hysteria against minority groups—loyal American-born Japanese and Germans. If we treat them unfairly and make them unhappy, we may shake their loyalty, which should be built up. If you see something suspicious, report it to the right authorities, but don’t try to be the FBI yourself.”

Despite mob attacks on Japanese businesses in California and on German and Italian businesses on the East Coast, and the growing fear of immigrants, Eleanor continued to call for patience and tolerance. In her weekly newspaper column, “My Day,” she wrote, “We know there are German and Italian agents, Japanese as well, who are here to be helpful to their own nations. But the great mass of people stemming from these various national ties must not feel they have suddenly ceased to be Americans.”

These were not popular arguments, but unlike her predecessors as first lady, Eleanor did not worry if she was popular. She was forty-eight when she became first lady and spoke her mind, even when her opinion differed from her husband’s. For instance, in February 1933, one month before Franklin Roosevelt’s inauguration as president, Eleanor ghostwrote a column arguing that taxes should be lowered and that Franklin should insist on more public spending from Congress. In private, she regularly disagreed with Roosevelt, who was not threatened by opinionated women. His mother, Sara Delano Roosevelt, was demanding and outspoken as well.

Since FDR’s election as president in 1932, Eleanor had relied on her own judgment and her convictions. Politics was the bond that defined the marriage. Eleanor served as his mobile surrogate, his chief champion for the New Deal’s relief and social policies, traveling more than 280,000 miles in his first two terms. Bound to a wheelchair because of his paralysis due to polio, Franklin used Eleanor as what he called “my eyes and ears,” to visit people and places he could not easily reach and gather the knowledge he needed to lift the country out of the Great Depression. During Eleanor’s first summer as first lady, Franklin asked her to go to Appalachia and report to him on the poverty there. “Watch the people’s faces,” he told her. “Look at the conditions of the clothes on the wash lines. You can tell a lot from that.”

Dressed in a miner’s clothes, Eleanor went down into the mines with workers to report on conditions. A celebrated 1933 New Yorker cartoon by Robert Day captured the miners’ surprise. The cartoonist depicted two miners shoveling coal in a dark shaft, with their faces looking up to the light. The breathless caption read, “For gosh sakes, here comes Mrs. Roosevelt!” Wherever Eleanor went, she spoke her mind.

But that day on the West Coast, the character of this political partnership changed. Eleanor was spitting into the winds of war. She and Franklin had two different visions of the way forward for the country, as well as two competing visions for their complicated life partnership. Eleanor was focused on conditions at home—the fight against poverty, the press for social reform, and the protection of the civil liberties of German, Italian, and Japanese immigrants. To her, the assurances of the First Amendment were nonnegotiable. Even before the attack on Pearl Harbor, as Roosevelt watched Hitler annex Austria, occupy Czechoslovakia, and march into Poland on September 1, 1939, the president’s attention shifted away from the home front to the events in Europe, leaving Eleanor out of many decisions, especially the ones related to the fate of American immigrants from Germany, Japan, and Italy.

Even in the aftermath of a disaster as large as Pearl Harbor, Eleanor felt the guarantees of the Bill of Rights must be protected. Roosevelt did not agree. He believed the threat from saboteurs and spies was real and took aim against enemies at home, real and imagined. Again and again, Eleanor tried to make her case to him that the problem with immigrants was grossly exaggerated. “These people were not convicted of any crime,” Eleanor wrote in an unpublished magazine article for Collier’s, “but emotions ran too high, too many people wanted to wreak vengeance on Oriental looking people. There was no time to investigate families or to adhere to the American rule that a man is innocent until he is proven guilty.”

Although history would later prove her right, on the day after Pearl Harbor, Eleanor was in a distinct minority. Walter Lippmann, the most influential journalist in America, published a column in the Washington Post on February 12, 1942, titled “The Fifth Column on the Coast.” Lippmann insisted national security preempted civil rights. “It is a fact that the Japanese navy has been reconnoitering the Pacific Coast more or less continually and for a considerable period of time, testing and feeling out the American defenses. It is a fact that communication takes place between the enemy at sea and enemy agents on land.” He argued that the arrest of Japanese Americans would not violate their constitutional rights. “Nobody’s constitutional rights include the right to reside and do business on a battlefield. There is plenty of room elsewhere for him to exercise his rights.”

Three days later, Westbrook Pegler, a conservative columnist who did not usually agree with Lippmann, expressed similar views in his column in the Washington Post: “The Japanese in California should be under armed guard to the last man and woman right now and to hell with habeas corpus until the danger is over.”

The entire political establishment applied pressure on Roosevelt to act not only against Japanese immigrants but also against Germans and Italians. All the military figures—General John DeWitt, Provost Marshal General Allen Gullion, and Secretary of War Henry Stinson—supported the arrest and incarceration of anyone suspected of disloyalty to the United States and the total evacuation of the Japanese from the West Coast. California’s attorney general, Earl Warren, later immortalized as a civil rights champion on the US Supreme Court, urged Roosevelt to intern all Japanese on the West Coast. Warren called the threat of Japanese subversives “the Achilles heel of the entire civilian defense effort” and warned, “Unless something is done, it may bring about a repetition of Pearl Harbor.”

No one was as influential in the decision to uproot thousands of Japanese and Japanese Americans from their homes—as well as thousands of German and Italian immigrants on the East Coast—and incarcerate them without charges as DeWitt, the Army’s West Coast commander. In testimony to a subcommittee of the House Committee on Naval Affairs in April 1943, DeWitt said, “I don’t want any of them here. They are a dangerous element. There is no way to determine their loyalty. It makes no difference whether he is an American citizen, he is still a Japanese. American citizenship does not necessarily determine loyalty. But we must worry about the Japanese all the time until he is wiped off the map.”

Later, DeWitt made clear that he also wanted Germans and Italians removed as well. “I include all Germans, all Italians, who are alien enemies,” he said to a fellow military officer. “Evacuate enemy aliens in large groups at the earliest possible date; sentiment is being given too much importance. Get them all out.”

Roosevelt’s decision to arrest and intern about 120,000 Japanese, two-thirds of them American citizens such as Sumi, and thousands of other immigrants, mainly Germans such as Ingrid’s father, had its roots in his experiences as an ambitious young man at the start of his political career. On March 17, 1913, at the age of thirty-one, Roosevelt was appointed assistant secretary of the Navy, a position he held for seven years. In his new post with the Navy, he had access to secret intelligence, and he approached it with bravado. “I get my fingers into everything,” he said, “and there’s no law against it.” He oversaw the Office of Naval Intelligence, which was in those days a small operation. Roosevelt threw out the sleepy bureaucrats and replaced them with several of his Ivy League friends who, like Roosevelt, believed that America was in danger from German assassins.

Their fears were confirmed by an act of sabotage in New York known as the Black Tom incident on July 30, 1916. Just after midnight, a small band of Germans set off a large explosion. The force of the blast turned the night sky over New York bright orange. Its epicenter was a small island called Black Tom. The bang jolted people from their beds. The Brooklyn Bridge shook, and the Statue of Liberty, less than a mile away, was damaged by shards of red-hot steel. The most important loading terminal in New York Harbor, then used to send munitions to Britain, was destroyed. The largest explosion ever in the United States, it convinced Roosevelt of two things: that America must enter the war, and the nation was at risk from a vast network of undercover German agents.

A few days after the Black Tom incident, Roosevelt burst into the office of his boss, Secretary of the Navy Josephus Daniels, and said, “We’ve got to get into this war.” The following year, President Woodrow Wilson, then a frail, elderly man and newly reelected, declared war. In a speech in Washington, DC, Wilson warned listeners that the Kaiser had sent German agents to America “to spread sedition among us” and to “undermine the government with false professions of loyalty to its principles.” By the fall, Germans and German Americans were barred from strategic areas, including harbors, canals, railroad depots, and wharves.

Roosevelt feared he was personally a target of German spies. He told his friends in Naval Intelligence that the Secret Service had found a safe in the German general consul’s office in New York with a document headed “To Be Eliminated.” Roosevelt’s name was on the list. For about ten days after the discovery, Roosevelt, shaken by the threat, carried a revolver in a leather shoulder holster.

On February 15, 1933, a few weeks before Roosevelt was inaugurated as president, his life was threatened by Giuseppe Zangara, an Italian immigrant and out-of-work bricklayer. Roosevelt arrived that day in Miami after a cruise from Jacksonville on Vincent Astor’s yacht. Zangara met the boat at the dock and then followed Roosevelt’s entourage to Miami’s Bayfront Park. From the backseat of a convertible, Roosevelt delivered a short speech. After he finished, people gathered around the car to shake the president-elect’s hand. Zangara, only five feet tall, stood on a chair to get a closer view of Roosevelt and opened fire with a .32-caliber pistol, purchased at a pawnshop for $8. The shots missed Roosevelt but hit several bystanders. Anton Cermak, the mayor of Chicago, was wounded in the chest.

When Secret Service agents swarmed Roosevelt, the president-elect motioned for them to place Cermak in the back of the car and ordered the driver to rush to the nearest hospital. He talked to Cermak all the way to the hospital. “I’m glad it was me instead of you,” Cermak told Roosevelt in the car. Three weeks later, on March 6, Cermak was dead.

But it wasn’t just Roosevelt—the entire country was gripped in a social paroxysm surrounding German, Italian, and Japanese immigrants. In March 1933, the following headline appeared in the New York Times: “Nazi Units in United States List 1,000 Aliens; Admit Their Aim Is to Spread Propaganda.” Other headlines followed: “Nazis’ Hand Seen in Activities Here” and “Hitler’s Men Said to Be Ready to Send Report of Sabotage to Reich Authorities.” By 1934 the House Un-American Activities Committee (HUAC), led by US representatives John McCormack and Samuel Dickstein, was investigating Nazi propaganda and secret agents in the United States.

Novelists also reflected the general dread of dangers at home. In his bestseller It Can’t Happen Here, Sinclair Lewis told the story of a native-born, Hitler-type character named Berzelius Windrip, whose nickname was Buzz. In the story, Buzz deploys his own private army, the Minute Men, to storm the White House. Ernest Hemingway’s play, The Fifth Column, published in 1938, was about the threat to liberty in Spain, but it powerfully reinforced fears of Fifth Column influence in the United States.

At the White House, Roosevelt and a small cadre of advisers, including Secretary of State Cordell Hull, a tall, white-haired Tennessean, well respected by both liberals and conservatives on Capitol Hill, became convinced that Nazis and Fascists would attack the United States from within, using immigrants as Fifth Column forces. On May 8, 1934, Roosevelt issued a secret directive to authorize J. Edgar Hoover’s FBI to investigate Nazis and Nazi sympathizers in the United States. The spy hunt began.

On that day, Roosevelt called Hoover to the White House. In a memorandum that is the only written record of the meeting, Hoover wrote that Roosevelt asked him to work in collaboration with the Secret Service and the INS to conduct “a very careful and searching” investigation of Nazi and Fascist organizations. In particular, Roosevelt asked Hoover to find “any possible connection with official representatives of the German government in the United States.”

Roosevelt had in mind a limited investigation and impressed on Hoover that the operation must be secret. Under Hoover’s direction, Roosevelt’s modest directive soon ballooned into a vast and illegal national campaign of targeting hundreds of thousands of politically defenseless immigrants, including the fathers of Ingrid and Sumi, who if left to their own devices would have continued to live quiet, harmless lives as their children joined the mainstream of American life.

On August 24, 1936, Roosevelt again called Hoover to the White House for a private meeting. He told Hoover he wanted a “broad picture” of subversives in the United States. The following day, Roosevelt and Hoover met with Hull, the normally sanguine secretary of state. On this day, Hull was in a frenzy over the political activities of foreigners at home. “Go ahead,” said Hull, “investigate the hell out of those cocksuckers.”

By the end of the year, Hoover had built his own bureaucratic empire. Moreover, Roosevelt’s directive allowed Hoover unlimited public resources to spy on the FBI director’s list of his personal enemies, including—of all people—Eleanor Roosevelt. It’s a measure of the general delirium of the times that the first lady was not immune from FBI surveillance.

Hoover’s covert investigation of Eleanor initially targeted her ties to the American Youth Congress, an organization including members of the YMCA, the American League for Peace and Democracy, and the Popular Front—in other words, liberals like Eleanor. Eleanor believed that money spent on arms and military buildup would be better spent on education and medical care. She knew that some of the young people in the AYC were self-proclaimed Communists, but she thought the numbers were few. After a speech by Eleanor to the AYC, noted in her FBI file, Hoover scrawled in his own hand, “Shut her up.”

With his new power, Hoover instructed his agents to illegally monitor Eleanor’s movements and tapped her telephone without a warrant. In time, case file 62-62735 grew to more than four thousand pages—one of the largest in the FBI’s history. Neither Eleanor nor Franklin knew that Hoover had Eleanor in his sights. However, Eleanor made no secret of her dislike of Hoover. When she learned that FBI agents had investigated two members of her staff—Edith Helm, her social secretary, and Malvina Thompson, a personal aide—she complained to the attorney general and to her husband.

Franklin asked Hoover to explain the matter to Eleanor. Hoover then wrote a confidential letter to Eleanor claiming it was a mistake, that the FBI agents did not realize Helm was her social secretary. “Had the FBI known, the inquiry would not have been initiated,” Hoover lied.

Two days later, Eleanor fired back: “This type of investigation seems to me to smack too much of Gestapo methods.”

For her candor, Eleanor made an enemy of Hoover for life. No one challenged Hoover the way Eleanor did. In Washington, his position was impregnable. He continued to monitor Eleanor until the day she died.

As had World War I, the run-up to World War II brought more disagreements to the marriage of Eleanor and Franklin. Eleanor continued to focus on conditions at home while Franklin monitored events in Europe. He realized that America would eventually have to get into the war, but isolationism gripped the nation. Even after Hitler invaded Poland, polls showed that 90 percent of Americans favored neutrality, although 80 percent wanted the Allies to win the war. The country wasn’t ready for war. At best, the Army could muster five fully equipped divisions, and the munitions industry in the United States was practically nonexistent.

On September 1, 1939, the day German tanks, infantry, and cavalry invaded Poland with 1.5 million troops, Roosevelt created a highly secretive division within the Department of State called the Special Division. He ordered this division to identify American civilians: businessmen, physicians, and government officials who were currently in Japan and Germany and who would be in danger when the United States joined the war. The State Department estimated that, as of January 1, 1939, 80,428 US nationals resided in Europe, 12,111 in the Near East, and 17,138 in the Far East. More than 100,000 US civilians were in harm’s way.

A few months later, Roosevelt authorized the Special War Problems Division to find Japanese and Germans in America and in Latin America who could be used as hostages in exchange for the more valuable of the Americans. Once the United States joined the war, Roosevelt knew that American soldiers, many of them wounded, would be captured and held as prisoners of war, and that he would need a ready source of exchange. Slowly and secretly, the vast machinery of internment and prisoner exchange sputtered to a start. The Special Division’s exchange program was informally known as “quiet passage.”

In 1940, Hoover installed the first group of FBI agents in Latin America. Based on the FBI reports, Roosevelt was convinced that Germans and Japanese in Latin America were a direct threat to hemispheric security. His primary fear was of the Germans. Beginning on April 9, 1940, Hitler’s forces overran Denmark, Norway, Belgium, and France, leaving Britain alone to fight against Germany’s domination of Europe. America’s involvement in the war was now a matter of time. Again and again, Roosevelt warned his advisers to keep their eyes on Hitler: “Germany first!” became his battle cry. Isolationists had vanished—now a majority of Americans favored war. As Time magazine reported on June 3, 1940, one way that citizens demonstrated patriotism was to become informants for Hoover. “Hundreds of gossips wrote to the FBI volunteering to spy on their neighbors,” noted the magazine.

In September 1941, Roosevelt took to the airwaves to declare that “Hitler’s advance guards” are readying “footholds, bridgeheads, in the New World to be used as soon as he has gained control of the oceans” and warned that German agents “at this very moment” are carrying out “intrigue, plots, machinations, and sabotage.” To secure the Panama Canal from sabotage, Roosevelt reached an agreement with the government of Peru that allowed the forcible detention in American internment camps of eighteen hundred Japanese Peruvians—men, women, and children with no ties to the United States.

Roosevelt pressured other Latin American governments, so-called good neighbors, to comply. Only Argentina, Mexico, and Brazil refused Roosevelt’s demands to deport Germans.

On September 5, 1941, three months prior to the attack on Pearl Harbor, Francis Biddle, a short, slim man whom both Eleanor and Franklin knew well, was sworn in as the new attorney general. Like the Roosevelts, Biddle was born an American aristocrat into an old, rich East Coast family from Philadelphia. Francis was a half cousin four times removed from James Madison. Like Roosevelt, as a boy Biddle went to Groton, the elite Massachusetts prep school, and later graduated from both Harvard and Harvard law school. The motto of Groton—cui servire est regnare, “to serve is to rule”—was part of his and Roosevelt’s DNA.

On Sunday, December 7, 1941, Biddle was at a luncheon in Detroit to sell defense bonds organized by the Slav-American Defense Savings Committee. After lunch was served, as Biddle rose to speak, his assistant Ugo Carusi handed him a note: “Japanese today attacked Pearl Harbor, great U.S. Naval Base in the Hawaiian Islands, and are also bombing Manila from planes probably released from aircraft carriers. The President made the official announcement at 2:20 p.m. The raids are still in progress.”

Biddle rubbed his balding head and sighed. He steadied himself at the podium and faced the large audience of Slavic immigrants. “Even as I was speaking,” recalled Biddle in his memoir, In Brief Authority, “Japs were bombing our country.” He looked at his audience and explained that Pearl Harbor had been attacked. After a few gasps, everything fell to a hush. Biddle described the Nazi ruthlessness in Czechoslovakia, Poland, and Yugoslavia, now matched by the Japanese surprise attack on American battleships. “From now on,” said Biddle to the crowd, “we will be at war with the dictatorships.” Then he excused himself and abruptly left to return to Washington.

That night at 8:30 p.m. Biddle and the other cabinet members gathered in Roosevelt’s study. The president sat silently at his desk. One by one, they filed in. Biddle later described the president’s face as “gray, even ashen, and graver than I had ever seen him.”

Finally the president spoke: “I’m glad you all got here.” Not since the outbreak of the Civil War, Roosevelt said, had any cabinet faced such a crisis. A proud Navy man, Roosevelt could not bear to describe the details of the attack on America’s unsuspecting fleet. By 10:00 p.m. congressional leaders had joined the cabinet. More chairs were brought into the now-crowded study. The president told them that the Navy ships and airplanes had all been lined up, one after another. “On the ground, by God, on the ground,” Roosevelt moaned. The idea that the battleships were not at sea and the planes not in the air seemed incomprehensible.

Everyone was in shock. The room was completely silent.

Finally, Senator Tom Connally of Texas, chairman of the Foreign Relations Committee, sprang to his feet, his face red with rage, and banged the desk with his fist. “How did they catch us with our pants down, Mr. President? Where were our patrols?”

Roosevelt bowed his head. “I don’t know, Tom. I just don’t know.”

Roosevelt told the group that he would appear before a joint session of Congress the next day and declare a state of war between America and Japan. His statement would be short.

At noon the following day, Eleanor and Franklin left the east gate of the White House by car. They drove to the Capitol under heavy security. When Roosevelt took his place at the podium, he looked out into the audience and said, “Yesterday—December 7, 1941, a date that will live in infamy—the United States was suddenly and deliberately attacked by naval and air forces of the Empire of Japan.” He enumerated the assaults on the Hawaiian Islands, Guam, the Philippines, on Wake and Midway Islands. To a standing ovation, he asked Congress to declare war so that “this form of treachery shall never endanger us again.” It took only thirty-three minutes for the House and Senate, sitting separately, to declare war, with only one dissenting vote. Jeannette Rankin of Montana, a pacifist and the first woman elected to the House, sobbed, “No,” as she answered the roll call.

Prior to Pearl Harbor, Biddle had been Eleanor’s strongest ally in the battle to protect the rights of legal immigrants and their children. About a month before Pearl Harbor—on November 5, 1941—Eleanor, concerned in particular about the threat to Japanese immigrants on the West Coast, wrote a letter to Biddle asking about the “possibility of loyal Japanese aliens of many years’ good standing becoming naturalized citizens.” In his reply on December 1, Biddle explained that Japanese aliens could not “enjoy the privilege of naturalization.” State and federal laws prohibited them from becoming citizens. They were also banned from owning land. For Japanese to become naturalized citizens would require amendments to both federal and state laws. “However,” continued Biddle, “they should be reassured by the knowledge that their alien status will not prejudice them in any way or deprive them of scrupulously fair and just treatment, so long as they remain loyal and engage in no activities hostile to the United States or inimical to its welfare.”

Only six days later, the attack on Pearl Harbor forced Biddle to take the very steps against Japanese, Germans, and Italians that he had assured Eleanor in his letter would never be taken. Biddle had been naive to think that he could stop it. Though Biddle repeatedly pressed Roosevelt not to carry out internment orders, he was the newest member of the cabinet and he did not have the power to overcome public opinion.

Roosevelt’s position was clear: the war could not be lost. Shortly after the president and first lady returned to the White House after the speech to Congress, Biddle reluctantly took over an executive order authorizing the attorney general—that is, himself—to intern enemy aliens previously identified on Hoover’s black list. By the next day, 1,212 Japanese enemy aliens had been taken into custody, along with 620 Germans and 98 Italians. They came from all parts of the United States. “I do not think Roosevelt was much concerned with the gravity or implications of this step,” Biddle later wrote. “He wasn’t theoretical about things. What must be done to defend the country must be done.”

Three days later, Germany and Italy declared war against the United States. Roosevelt called Biddle to come at once to the White House, this time with an appropriate proclamation of war. Biddle arrived in the afternoon. The president was in his study with Admiral Ross T. McIntire, the White House physician. Roosevelt was suffering from a sinus attack, brought on by the stress of the events of the last few days. When Biddle entered the room, the doctor was bent over the president, swabbing out FDR’s nose.

Roosevelt looked up, motioned for Biddle to take a seat, and asked, his voice hoarse and harsh, “How many Germans are there in the country?”

“Oh, about six hundred thousand.”

“And you’re going to intern all of them,” said the president angrily. “I don’t care so much about the Italians. They are a lot of opera singers, but the Germans are different: they may be dangerous.”

“Please, Mr. President,” the doctor pleaded. FDR sank back into his chair, and McIntire resumed the swabbing as Biddle quickly withdrew. When he looked back, he noted that Roosevelt’s color had returned, his cheeks were ruddy. Biddle later wrote that the prospect of war, so long in coming but now here, had revived Roosevelt.

James H. Rowe, who was Biddle’s assistant and a confidant of Eleanor’s, continued to press the first lady’s case. On February 2, 1942, in a private memorandum to Tully, Roosevelt’s private secretary, Rowe warned that the president would soon receive a proposal by the military to relocate and intern all Japanese and Japanese Americans in California. Rowe opposed the proposal. He believed it was unconstitutional and driven by public hysteria.

“Please tell the President to keep his eye on the Japanese situation in California,” wrote Rowe. “It looks to me like it will explode any day now.” He told Tully that “public pressure” to move all Japanese out of California—citizens and legal aliens—was “tremendous.” If that happened, Rowe wrote, “It will be one of the great mass exoduses of history.” He also warned the mass arrests would require the suspension of the writ of habeas corpus, the ancient right of detained prisoners to seek relief from unlawful imprisonment.
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